## **Hamline University**

# DigitalCommons@Hamline

School of Education and Leadership Student Capstone Projects

School of Education and Leadership

Spring 2021

## Incorporating Physical Activity In The Kindergarten Classroom

Kendra Buteyn

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse\_cp

Part of the Education Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Buteyn, Kendra, "Incorporating Physical Activity In The Kindergarten Classroom" (2021). *School of Education and Leadership Student Capstone Projects*. 651. https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse\_cp/651

This Capstone Project is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Education and Leadership at DigitalCommons@Hamline. It has been accepted for inclusion in School of Education and Leadership Student Capstone Projects by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@Hamline. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@hamline.edu.

## INCORPORATING PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN THE KINDERGARTEN CLASSROOM

by Kendra L. Buteyn

A capstone submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of Master of Arts in Teaching.

Hamline University

Saint Paul, Minnesota

May 2021

Capstone Project Facilitator: Jana Lo Bello Miller Content Expert: Amy Palmateer Copyright by

## KENDRA BUTEYN, 2021

## All Rights Reserved

To my husband, John, and my daughter, Lucy. Thank you for loving and supporting me.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT4
CHAPTER ONE: Introduction
CHAPTER TWO: Literature Review
The Need for Movement
Benefits of Movement in the Classroom19
Physical Activity in the Classroom23
Recommendations from Professional and Government Organizations
CHAPTER THREE: Project Description
Rationale34
Overview of the Project
Research Theories
Research Methods
Project Setting and Audience
Project Description
Timeline40
CHAPTER FOUR: Project Reflection
Key Learnings
Project Description
Benefits to the Profession
Limitations
Next Steps in Research
REFERENCES

#### Abstract

Physical activity is something all children need. In today's world, young children are spending more time on devices and are getting less physical activity at school and home due to busy and overbooked schedules. Research conducted by Abdelbary, Castelli et al., Conyers & Wilson, and Helgelson show that when children move more, they can increase their academic achievement, on-task behavior, and their overall health. Keeping the body active promotes mental clarity by increasing blood flow to the brain, making activity vital to both learning and physical and neurological health (Abdelbary, 2017). The collection of research in this capstone project helps to answer the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?* To help promote the use of physical activity ideas and resources in a Google Slides presentation that teachers can implement in their own classrooms. The activities are directly tied to the Minnesota state standards for English Language Arts and Math so teachers can incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom and increase learning activity in the kindergarten classroom and increase more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom and increase more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom and increase more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom and increase more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom and increase learning at the same time.

#### CHAPTER ONE

#### **My Capstone Story**

## The Question

"Kids need to be moving more!" is the thought that keeps coming to me as I think about my time as a kindergarten teacher. Over the past six years, I've been teaching five, six, and seven year old students. I love teaching this age group because students are figuring out how to become their own person and learning how to love learning! Over the course of the last six years, I have worked with numerous students who are unable to sit still during lessons, students with off-task behaviors, blurting, and impulse control issues, just to name a few.

In kindergarten, we want students to learn all of their alphabet letter names and alphabet letter sounds, even learning about short and long vowel sounds! We also begin to learn how to read CVC (consonant, vowel, consonant) words like "cat" as well as sight words to eventually read simple sentences. We want students to be able to read, write, and count all numbers from 0-31. These learning targets are so much fun, but there is a lot to cover in just one year of school! With all of these learning targets and so much to teach students in one year of kindergarten, I believe young students need more movement during their school days to help students stay engaged. My feelings about this have been amplified this year, during a time in our lives where students have been home for the last 6 months enduring a global pandemic, spending time on electronic devices, and away from family and friends. Movement in kindergarten is so important because it allows students to engage their bodies with their brains during a school year where they are learning so much. I want to know, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning*?

When I ask this question and use the term physical activity in relation to a classroom, it means anything that is active that can also be tied to learning. Some simple examples of physical

activities in the classroom are: jumping up and down while counting to 10, singing the alphabet song while cleaning up supplies, or having students slowly shrink down and "melt" to the carpet as students count backwards from 10 to 1. Counting up, learning alphabet numbers, and counting backwards are all learning targets in kindergarten, so these are ways that students are moving and learning at the same time. The rigor in kindergarten has continued to increase and some students come to school with little to no prior school experience. Especially in kindergarten, the range of students can be very large, so focusing on teaching the state standards is very important. So, can we feed two birds with one seed, as they say? My purpose in asking this research question is for just that reason. I want to be able to allow and encourage more movement in my kindergarten classroom, but in a way that allows students to increase learning at the same time.

#### **How I Got Into Teaching**

Becoming a teacher is my second career. People often ask how long I've been teaching, and even though this is only my sixth year of having my own classroom, I have been working with students in schools for many years. After graduating with a Bachelor's Degree in Communication Studies from a small liberal arts school in southern Minnesota, and working for a software company for over two years, I realized I needed to do something with my life that involved working with people - in person - and making a difference. I quit my job over the summer months and became a Minnesota Reading Corps (MRC) tutor starting in the fall in a Minneapolis Public School. My primary focus as a tutor was working with kindergarten students in small groups of four, and then for a second time during the day in pairs. During our tutoring sessions we worked on letter names, letter sounds, blending sounds, nonsense words, reading stories, vocabulary words, and identifying things like characters, settings, problems, and solutions within those stories. I absolutely loved working with kindergarteners and being in a school setting. My job as a MRC Kindergarten focused tutor was to support the learning that was happening in the classroom, but to do it in a smaller setting. The students that qualified for MRC services were students who needed a little extra boost to catch up with their peers.

During my year as a MRC tutor, I enjoyed my experience so much and received so much encouragement from other educators, that I decided to go back to school to get my teaching license. It was also during this time that I realized how important exercise and movement were for *my* daily living. I was an athlete as a high school student, participating in cross county, tennis, and track and field. I even qualified for the State Track Meet in 2004! I was also a member of the Track and Field team during my time as an undergraduate, but it wasn't as important as working and studying became at that time. While I was a MRC tutor, I joined a run club at LifeTime Fitness. I either ran by myself, with friends, or with the run club five or six days a week. I also met my current husband during this time and the two of us would spend some of our time together going for runs around the Minneapolis lakes! During this time I also ran a few half marathons, 10 mile races, and many, many 5K's. Physical activity became a large part of who I was as a person and made me more focused and successful as I began my path into education.

#### Journey to the Kindergarten Classroom

After learning about different teacher preparation programs, I decided to enroll at Hamline University to work on my initial teaching licensure and Master's Degree. Shortly after being accepted at Hamline, an opportunity to work full time as a Special Education Paraprofessional at an elementary school in a suburb of the Twin Cities fell into my lap. It was an offer I couldn't refuse! At this time in my life, I really didn't know much about Special Education, especially at the elementary level. This was about to change! For two years I worked full time as a Special Education Paraprofessional in a center-based classroom with students diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and students that were Developmentally and Cognitively Disabled (DCD). Prior to this job, I would not have been able to tell you what the initials ASD or DCD even stood for. This was one of the most challenging and rewarding jobs I've ever had. Most of the students I worked with were non-verbal, so using American Sign Language (ASL), Picture Exchange Communication System (PECS), and Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC) devices were used to communicate. My toolbox as an educator grew as I learned how to teach, communicate, handle challenging behaviors, and work with students with special needs.

#### Special Education Paraprofessional

After two years working in that environment, I was given an opportunity to work as a Special Education Paraprofessional in a different role. I moved to a different school within the same district to work as a one-on-one paraprofessional, where I assisted students in their general education classrooms. I chose to move to this position as I was working closer to completing my initial teaching license courses and wanted more experience in a general education setting. During my time in this role, I worked with two different students. In the mornings I assisted a 3rd grade student with Autism, and in the afternoons I worked with a 4th grade student with Autism. We worked on academics, social skills, communication skills, and self regulation skills. This was another exciting opportunity in my journey to becoming a teacher because I was able to observe and be a part of different classrooms during my day. My tool box as an educator continued to grow.

Throughout both of my roles as a Special Education Paraprofessional, I noticed the need and desire for students to move. Whether it was during gym class, DAPE (Developmental Adapted Physical Education), recess, music therapy, or through in-class movement or brain breaks like GoNoodle; students craved the chance to move and were more successful following these movement breaks. Students couldn't wait until it was time for gym and rushed to be the first one dressed and out to recess! Even students halfway through their elementary school years loved to move!

After being a Special Education Paraprofessional for 3 school years and finishing my initial licensure classes at Hamline, I completed my student teaching experience during the fall in a first grade classroom. During this experience I was able to see first hand how much sitting primary aged students were doing and how much more movement they needed! The first grade teacher I worked with used songs and educational videos at the beginning of her lessons to hook students into new content. Students were encouraged to stand, move, dance, or do whatever they could (in a respectful way) with their bodies before being asked to sit for the rest of the lesson. While these movement breaks were helpful, I felt like there needed to be more. Recess was short, and sometimes held indoors if there was inclement weather, and students only had Physical Education two times a week! I observed and experienced first hand how much more physical activity students needed during my student teaching experience.

## Teacher

Following student teaching, I became a long term substitute for the remainder of that school year in a different 1st grade classroom. Again, I found that students in this age group needed to be constantly moving. I started to learn more about the stamina of this age group and found that whole group lessons should only be about 15 to 20 minutes long. In between these 15 to 20 minute lessons, some type of movement was key. Sometimes just transitioning between activities was a good enough movement break, but I kept wondering if these movement breaks could be tied to something more academic to increase student learning. I started to fill my toolbox with ways to keep students engaged: doing different cheers when students were on track ("get out your fans, shhh shhh, FANNNNtastic!"), encouraging students to stand and "climb" the ladder up to the sky while counting by 10's, and playing a blending song, "bumpity, bumpity,

yellow bus, will you say the word with us, /c//a//t/, and students would say "CAT!". These movement breaks were helpful, but could I be doing more?

Following my long term substitute position in 1st grade, I got hired for my first full time job. This was as a teacher for a kindergarten position for a unique program called Kinder Academy. Kinder Academy is a one or two year program for young five year olds. Young five year olds are students that have summer birthdays. This program was designed to have young five year olds start in Kinder Academy, and then depending on their success with social, emotional, and academic development, they would either be recommended for a second year of Kinder Academy or move on to first grade. It was during my experience in Kinder Academy that I was able to observe and interact with even younger school aged children and found their need for movement and learning was even more critical to their success in school. Through my experience in Kinder Academy, I found that KA classrooms were made up of at least 75% male students that were full of energy and often came to Kinder Academy with even less "pre-school" experience than your typical kindergartener. Teaching new or challenging concepts in Kinder Academy proved to be even more difficult than what I had expected.

## **Current Teaching Position**

After teaching Kinder Academy for three years, I moved schools within the same district and was hired as a kindergarten teacher. I am currently in my second year teaching in a regular kindergarten classroom. I love teaching kindergarten! The excitement of learning, making friends, and being at school for the first time are so contagious! As a kindergarten teacher, I feel the effects of rainy days with no recess, snowy cold stretches where students have been cooped up at home and school, and days when we don't have Physical Education with our specialists. Students need to move. Kindergarten students need to move even more! Especially now, during a global pandemic, where students are being asked to socially distance with their peers, stay at their table spots to stay safe, and are not allowed to go to the playground every day for recess to avoid cross contamination with other classrooms. My kindergarten students need to move. However, I still need to teach my students the state standards, so I want to know, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?* 

## Rationale

Answering the question, how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning? is such an important topic for all teachers, but especially kindergarten teachers. During this day and age, students are spending more time on devices and watching screens. Students are getting less physical activity at school and home due to our fast paced lives and overbooked schedules. Through my experience teaching, I've learned that Kindergarten students need to move to stay engaged and any way that teachers can tie movement to learning is a win! Movement in the classroom is important because the rigor in kindergarten has increased. I use things in the classroom that get students up and moving, like GoNoodle, or a Harry Kindergarten sing along video on YouTube, but I keep wondering if there's something more I can be doing that will benefit my students both physically and academically? When we are asking students to do more and learn more at a younger age, we as educators can't expect them to just be able to sit still and learn it all! Students are expected to learn how to read in kindergarten. Some students enter kindergarten not even knowing the letters in their name or how to write their name! In my kindergarten classroom, I have more students with off task behaviors, issues with blurting, and difficulties attending during whole group and small group lessons. It is my hope that this research will be able to benefit my students this school year and help me fill my tool box with movement and learning ideas for many school years to come.

## Conclusion

In addition to adding in more physical activity in my kindergarten classroom, it is still vital for me to find ways to move my body every day. Whether I'm taking a walk before or after school, going for a run, or participating in a fitness class at my local gym or in my basement, I feel better about my day and about the work I need to do when I can move my body. I have a family of my own, so running 5-6 days a week and training for half marathons isn't as high up on the priority list as it was when I first started my career in teaching, but it is still something that is critical to my well being. Teaching is a very emotional and physical job, and when I can get physical activity before teaching for the day, I feel the effects and have more energy to do it! Physical activity is critical for our youngest learners, too. If students do not have enough opportunities to move their bodies, it affects their ability to focus and learn.

In Chapter One, I've been able to share my journey into teaching. I have worked with many different students in many different settings, and across the board, there is a need for more movement in classrooms. In Chapter Two, I will be completing a review of literature of studies about movement and learning in kindergarten and other primary aged classrooms. I will cover the need for movement, the benefits of including physical activity in the classroom, different types of physical activity that can take place in the classroom, and recommendations from professional and government organizations about how much movement is expected for this age group of students. My hope is that through researching this topic, I will be able to create a Capstone Project that provides ideas and resources for other kindergarten teachers so that they too can incorporate physical activity into their classrooms. I want to help support other educators in answering the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning*?

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### Introduction

In order to answer the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning*?, it is necessary to present a summary of research from four relevant categories. First, I will discuss changes that have been made to primary education that have created a need for physical activity in the classroom. I will talk about how kindergarten has shifted over the last half century and talk about why movement is so necessary for kindergarteners today.

Second, I will discuss the benefits of incorporating movement into the classroom. I will highlight how it has positively affected academic achievement in numerous studies. I will also show how movement can increase on-task behavior in the classroom as well as the overall health of a child.

Third, I will define what physical activity is. I will share ideas about physical activity in the classroom from other educators as well as discuss programs that have been designed for the sole purpose of getting children to move more frequently during their school day.

Last, I will share recommendations from professional and government organizations about how much movement is expected for this age group of students. This section will talk about the frequency of movement as well as recommendations for specific age groups.

## The Need for Movement

#### Introduction

In this first section, I will discuss changes that have been made to primary education that have created a need for physical activity in the classroom. This section provides the rationale for my research question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning*? It will also cover how kindergarten has changed over the half

century as well as some of the health concerns for children that are on the rise. Then, I will review the body and brain connection and why movement is so important for learning. The last part of this section will discuss No Child Left Behind and how that law has been connected to students having more sedentary time in the classroom.

#### Kindergarten Has Changed

In 2009, a report titled, *Crisis in the Kindergarten*, warned that kindergarten in the United States had radically changed over the past two decades and that "developmentally appropriate learning practices" centered on play, exploration, and social interactions had been replaced with highly prescriptive curriculum, test preparation, and an explicit focus on academic skill building (Bassok et al., 2016). A study done by Dotson-Renta (2016) through the University of Virginia found that, compared to 1998, children today are spending far less time on self-directed learning—moving freely and doing activities that they themselves chose—and measurably more time in a passive learning environment (para. 1). One concern with having too much focus on academic skills is that it might crowd out other important types of learning experiences that help develop social and regulation skills (Bassok et al., 2016). This shift in kindergarten has caused students to spend less time moving and more time sitting during their time at school.

#### Health Concerns

In addition to the rigor of kindergarten changing, childhood obesity is on the rise. According to the World Health Organization, 38 million children under the age of 5 years old were overweight or obese in 2019. The proportion of children who are overweight has more than tripled since the 1970s (McKenzie & Kahan, 2008, p. 172). According to McKenzie and Kahan (2008), not only does being overweight in childhood have its own physical and psychological health problems, overweight children are also likely to become overweight or obese in adulthood (p. 172). With more focus on academics and higher numbers of obesity, the need to move is more important than ever before. Research observing children's level of physical activity indicates that preschoolers are sedentary throughout their day (Bjørgen, 2015). Children's bodies, metabolisms, and bone structure are designed to be active all day (Ostroff, 2005). Even in kindergarten, only 39% of elementary schools in the United States require Physical Education (Stork & Sanders, 2008). According to the World Health Organization (2019), physical inactivity is now identified as the fourth leading risk factor for global mortality (p. 7). Physical inactivity levels are rising in many countries with major implications for the prevalence of noncommunicable diseases and the general health of the population worldwide ("World Health Organization," 2019). These health concerns are not just for children, but for all. Learning to move your body and enjoy doing so can be taught to young children, and should be taught to students in school.

#### The Body Brain Connection

According to Jensen (2005), the part of the brain that is most associated with motor control is the cerebellum (p. 61). The cerebellum is located in the back of the brain. The cerebellum is about half the size of a small fist, takes up about one-tenth of the brain by volume, but contains nearly half of all the neurons in the brain (Jensen, 2005). The cerebellum has more than 40 million nerve fibers that feed information from the cortex, to the cerebellum, and then back again. Pathways have been traced from the cerebellum back to parts of the brain involved in memory, attention, and spatial perception (Jensen, 2005). The part of the brain that processes movement is the same part of the brain function. When our bodies have enhanced blow flow, which comes from movement, the amount of oxygen that is transported to the brain increases (Jensen, 2005). Therefore, by having students engage in physical activity, they increase the blood flow in their bodies and, in return, bring more oxygen to their brain. This improves their brain function and allows for more learning. Understanding the connection between movement and

cognitive function is crucial to understanding how children move, learn, and explore the physical spaces of their school classrooms (McLaren et al., 2012). When educators involve movement in their school day it allows for more learning to occur.

#### No Child Left Behind

By the beginning of the new millennium, research about the positive effects of physical activity and the impacts it had on academic achievement at school started to gain popularity. That was until the installment of No Child Left Behind (NCLB) in 2002. NCLB was a federal law that stressed the importance of increasing instructional time which in turn, caused certain subjects, like physical education and physical activity opportunities, like gym class and recess, to be limited or even cut out of the school day (Castelli et al., 2014). Even though there have been numerous studies proving the benefit of health programs in school, the influence of NCLB has encouraged time that could be spent on physical activity to instead be spent on teaching content to help with standardized test preparation (Castelli et al., 2014). School days are short and there is a lot that teachers need to do, but we *can* challenge students academically and give them opportunities for movement. Schools have been identified as a key setting for promoting public health and increasing student's physical activity. Schools, however, are primarily and deliberately designed to produce cognitive outcomes, and their structures and programs inadvertently suppress children's physical activity (McKenzie, & Kahan, 2008, p. 173). Neuroscience research shows that we can still challenge students academically and provide opportunities for play because exercise powers up brain areas associated with executive functions that support higher order thinking and with learning and memory (Convers & Wilson, 2015).

#### More Time Being Sedentary

Students are being asked to *sit and get* in the classroom to prepare for standardized testing. Children are asked to sit still and listen in the classroom so they can be taught more

content in order to be prepared for high stakes testing. Asking children to sit still at school can be a big problem, especially when teachers are being asked to do more academically with their students, which has caused schools to think that movement, physical activity, and free play are a waste of time (Abdelbary, 2017). Rather than trying to get children to stop fidgeting, we should embrace their tendency to move as a prerequisite for developing focus (Ostroff, 2005). Studies show that living a sedentary lifestyle is detrimental to our health but we ask students to sit still and listen for hours every day at school (Balcom, 2017). Movement gives a student's brain a chance to do information that the student is learning, rather than to only see or hear it (Ostroff, 2005). Movement helps students with their learning, information gets sent to the brain through more senses when movement is involved. When children can jump, skip, reach, and balance, it teaches them how to operate in the world in many different ways. The more the whole body is involved in any learning experience, the more engrossed and focused the learner will be (Ostroff, 2005). Osnes, Skaug, and Kaarby, 2010 (as cited by Bjørgen, 2015) explain that physically active play can be defined and understood as any activity that involves moderate to high levels of physical activity in the context of play with an energy expenditure above the physiological (i.e.muscular and cardiorespiratory) norm.

Allowing students to move in the classroom allows them to regain focus and concentration. A study conducted at Duke University in 2011 found that a student's capacity to concentrate is one of the best predictors of success (Abdelbary, 2017). Terrie Moffitt and Avshalom Caspi, psychology and neuroscience professors at Duke University, studied more than 1,000 children in New Zealand over a period of eight years to track their ability to pay attention, then followed up with them as adults to measure their health and financial stability. Those with more self-control were less likely to have difficulty with money or health problems (Abdelbary, 2017). Allowing students to engage in physical activity helps with building their stamina to focus

and pay attention. Students today have much more access to devices and screen time than students did 30 years ago. The solution to this problem is not asking students to continue being sedentary, it's to get them up and moving (Abdelbary, 2017).

## Conclusion

In this first section, the need for movement in the classroom was addressed. The topics of how kindergarten has changed, health concerns for children that are on the rise, the brain body connection, NCLB, and how children are spending more time being sedentary were covered.

This section discussed that compared to 1998, children today are spending far less time on self-directed learning—moving freely and doing activities that they themselves chose—and measurably more time in a passive learning environment (Dotson-Renta, 2016, para. 1). Research discussing health concerns for children showed that according to the World Health Organization, 38 million children under the age of 5 years old were overweight or obese in 2019. The brain body connection was highlighted, we were shown that the part of the brain that processes movement is the same part of the brain that processes learning (Jensen, 2005). The next section addressed No Child Left Behind, which was a federal law that stressed the importance of increasing instructional time which in turn caused certain subjects, like physical education and physical activity opportunities, like gym class and recess, to be limited or even cut out of the school day (Castelli et al., 2014). Because of things like NCLB, how Kindergarten has changed, and with the number of overweight and obese children on the rise, children are being asked to sit still and listen in the classroom so they can be taught more content in order to be prepared for high stakes testing. All of these studies help support the case for increasing movement in the classroom.

In the next section, the benefits of movement in the classroom will be discussed. Movement in the classroom can provide academic achievement, an increase in on-task behavior, and an increase in overall student health (Conyers & Wilson, 2015, Helgelson, 2011, & Castelli et al., 2014).

#### **Benefits of Movement in the Classroom**

#### Introduction

There are many reasons why adding movement, which is sometimes referred to as physical activity, in the classroom is beneficial for students. This section will cover the main benefits of including movement in the classroom: academic achievement, an increase in on-task behavior, and an increase in overall student health. This section will help show the benefits we can reap from answering the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning*?

Children that are healthy and engage in physical activity learn better. According to Castelli, et al., (2014), educators and scientists have found how important physical, cognitive, and brain health is in having successful education in schools (p. 3). Studies show that children who are more active exhibit better focus, faster cognitive processing, and more successful memory retention than kids who spend the day sitting still (Abdelbary, 2017). Keeping the body active promotes mental clarity by increasing blood flow to the brain, making activity vital to both learning and physical and neurological health (Abdelbary, 2017). Research has shown there are no negative consequences for making physical activity part of the school day, which should alleviate concerns that taking time away from core subjects for *play* might decrease grades or test scores (Conyers & Wilson, 2015).

### Increase in Academic Achievement

When we add movement and allow students to be physically active in the classroom students increase their academic achievement. A University of Illinois study reports that 9 and 10 year olds performed better on reading comprehension, spelling, and math tests when they had 20 minutes of physical activity immediately before testing (Conyers & Wilson, 2015). Moderate to vigorous physical activity that increases the heart rate seems to have the greatest positive effect on academic performance (Conyers & Wilson, 2015). According to research done by Ratey in 2008 and Foruhi in 2013 (as cited in Conyers & Wilson, 2015):

Exercise has been shown to enhance both neurogenesis (the creation of new brain cells in regions of the brain associated with higher-order thinking and recall) and experience-dependent synaptogenesis (the formation of synaptic connections between neurons in response to learning and sensory input from the environment). Specifically, physical activity appears to stimulate the production of a protein called brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which helps neurons and synapses grow. In fact, BDNF has been likened to fertilizer for the brain. (p. 4)

Physical activity increases higher order thinking and recall. When students are given the chance to move, rather than sit still while they learn, their academic performance is enhanced.

## Increase in On-Task Behavior

Movement in the classroom is also an easy way to help students stay focused on learning, stay energized throughout lessons, and helps to work as an effective classroom management tool because it also increases on-task behavior (Helgelson, 2011). When teachers have good classroom management, the classroom is positive for learners and students are more likely to feel safe and learn. When teachers provide a variety of activities in their classrooms, including movement, students are more likely to be focused, attentive, motivated, and will work in various ways to accomplish goals (Helgelson, 2011). When the learning environment of a classroom is positive, students are more likely to be engaged, and therefore are more likely to learn.

There are many reasons why the body needs movement, especially for young learners. Young learners have fluctuations in their metabolism and often become restless when sitting for long periods of time. After sitting for long periods of time, young learners require physical movement to refocus. When teachers avoid long periods of lecture by adding in physical movement, they can improve learning for young learners all while managing the classroom more effectively (Helgelson, 2011). Elementary and middle school students are typically more kinesthetic learners than older students. Kinesthetic learning is learning by doing, for example, learning how to climb a ladder through experience of climbing a ladder rather than by reading about climbing a ladder. Elementary and middle school students prefer hands on and interactive activities, and movement activities often appeal to them (Helgelson, 2011). Physical activity and movement also adds variety to a lesson which in turn keeps students more engaged. When students are engaged it helps lead to fewer classroom disruptions and helps increase on-task behavior from students.

Movement is vital for young children because physical activity aids in the intellectual development of a child's brain (Helgeson, 2011). Movement provides the brain with oxygen, which is needed to feed and create connections between neurons (Jensen, 2005). This connection is important because the part of the brain used during movement activities is the same part of the brain that is used during learning (Jensen, 2005).

#### Increase in Overall Student Health

Research shows that children who participate in daily physical activity, which is defined as a behavior beyond rest, have increased physical fitness, increased bone density, a reduced risk of obesity, decreased risk in cardiovascular disease, and a lower risk of experiencing depression (Castelli et al., 2014). On the other hand, if students engage in sedentary activities, have too much screen time, get insufficient sleep, or have poor eating habits, they are less likely to engage in developmentally appropriate learning activities (Castelli et al., 2014). Students need daily movement to help their bodies and brains learn best while at school. For the purposes of understanding what physical activity is, we can categorize it in four different ways. There are four categories of physical activity that require different amounts of effort. The activity levels increase as we go through each category. According to The National Academic Press (2013), the four levels of physical activity are sedentary activity, light-intensity activity, moderate-intensity activity, and vigorous-intensity activity. Sedentary activity includes sleeping, lying down, sitting, and watching television, while light-intensity activity includes standing, slow walking, making the bed, or cooking. Moderate-intensity includes activities such as table tennis, walking, and ballroom dancing. Vigorous-intensity includes activities that are more athletic such as running at various speeds, shoveling snow, and mowing the lawn. According to Bark (2018) a good balance of all four types of physical activity keep the body active and physically healthy, but having exposure to moderate and vigorous activity is needed as it helps keep the body in good physical shape (p. 13).

### Conclusion

This section discussed the benefits of incorporating physical activity into the classroom. Adding physical activity in the classroom helps students in many ways. An increase in academic achievement, an increase in on-task behavior, and an increase in physical activity are the main points that were discussed.

In the section above, studies were discussed that show that children who are more active exhibit better focus, faster cognitive processing, and more successful memory retention than kids who spend the day sitting still (Abdelbary, 2017). Physical activity increases higher order thinking and recall. When students are given the chance to move, rather than sit still while they learn, their academic performance is enhanced. Movement in the classroom is also an easy way to help students stay focused on learning, stay energized throughout lessons, and helps to work as an effective classroom management tool because it also increases on-task behavior (Helgelson, 2011). Research shows that children that participate in daily physical activity, which is defined as a behavior beyond rest, have increased physical fitness, increased bone density, a reduced risk of obesity, decreased risk in cardiovascular disease, and a lower risk of experiencing depression (Castelli et al., 2014). All of these pieces of research show the benefits of incorporating physical activity in the classroom.

In the next section, physical activity in the classroom will be discussed. We will find out what physical activity in the classroom is, ways to implement physical activity in the classroom, how teachers can implement physical activity in their classrooms, and their feelings about doing so. This section will finish with talking about a program that has been created to increase physical activity in the classroom.

#### **Physical Activity in the Classroom**

## Introduction

In this section physical activity in the classroom will be discussed. I will highlight what classroom physical activity looks like, how teachers can implement physical activity in their classrooms, and how they feel about implementing physical activity. The section will conclude with a discussion of a program that has been created to increase physical activity in the classroom. This section will help answer my research question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?*, as it will give specific examples of how teachers are already incorporating physical activity in their classrooms to increase learning.

#### **Physical Activity Defined**

Physical Activity is the process of engaging in bodily movement that results in energy expenditure, and it is essential for good health (McKenzie & Kahan, 2008, p. 171). Physical

activity in the classroom is any type of movement that students participate in while at school. Physical activity in the classroom can be done for fun, just to get students up and moving, or physical activity in the classroom can be used to teach an academic skill. Adding physical activity while teaching is a way that teachers can encourage more movement while increasing student engagement. According to Catunda, et al., (2017) students that participated in school-based physical activity had better academic performance than those who did not participate in physical activity (p. 2). It is important that we take the research that has been done about how physical activity positively affects student behavior and performance and apply it in the classroom. One of the ways we can do this is by getting students to move. Any type of physical activity is good. Best, 2010 (as cited by Conyers & Wilson, 2015) said, "the importance of regular physical activity to the developing body and mind cannot be overstated" (p. 41).

#### Ways to Incorporate Physical Activity in the Classroom

Schools exist in all communities, are attended by nearly all children, provide safe environments, and often have facilities, equipment, and trained personnel inside of their buildings. Therefore, schools have been identified as the institutions with the primary responsibility for promoting physical activity (McKenzie & Kahan, 2008, p. 173). Physical activity in the schools can take place in many different forms. Classroom physical activity can be included in class content, for example having children jump every time they hear a verb in a story. Physical activity can be utilized during transition times between class subjects, by walking to a different area of the room, or strictly as a pause in the current instruction (Dinkel, et al., 2017). Conyers and Wilson (2015) stated that Rose, an instructional media specialist at a Florida primary school, employs "brain breaks" as a way to incorporate movement into library activities (p. 5). Brain breaks are short 3-5 minute activities that students do either following a music video, singing, dancing, or other type of movement activity. Another way to help students focus is to make information seem newly relevant every 10 minutes within a lesson, especially if learners are passively sitting and listening. As you approach the 10-minute point, mix it up a bit by telling a joke, playing a song, or even asking for a show of hands (Ostroff, 2005). Most students really enjoy these opportunities to move and have fun while doing these short breaks. Encourage children to move as they travel to and from school, at recess, during physical education, and during and between lessons (Conyers & Wilson, 2015). Despite academic pressure, schools can serve as prime opportunities to improve children's physical activity because the vast majority of children attend, 97% according to Dinkel et al., and spend a large amount of time in schools, 6 or more hours/day, and 180 days/year, according to Dinkel et al. (Katz, 2005; Peterson & Fox, [as cited by Dinkel et al., 2017]).

#### Teachers Can Implement Physical Activity

Public health entities throughout the world have advocated for an increase of physical activity opportunities for children. When teachers implement physical activity throughout the day, or even better, throughout the whole school, physical activity is no longer isolated to recess or physical education classes nor is it the sole responsibility of physical education teachers. Classroom teachers, who provide core instruction in academic areas such as math, reading, writing, science, and social studies, are intentionally embedding physical activity into their teaching strategies throughout the entirety of the school day (Dinkel et al., 2017). When teachers implement classroom based physical activity, or increase their use of it, this will benefit all children and increase the amount of physical activity children get each day.

Incorporating physical activity into the classroom can take place in many different ways. Classroom physical activity can be included in class content, for example, by having children jump every time they hear a verb in a story. Physical activity can also be utilized during transitions between class subjects, for example, walking to a different area of the room. Physical activity can also be used strictly as a pause in the current instruction (Dinkel et al., 2017). According to Dinkel et al. most educators feel positively about using and implementing classroom physical activity and can identify the physical, mental, and academic benefits of using physical activity with children (2017). Teachers have been more likely to use classroom physical activity when they can understand the benefits of incorporating physical activity into their day and are easy to implement. According to research done by Howie, 2014; McMullen, 2014 (as cited by Dinkel et al., 2017), teachers are also more likely to use classroom physical activity when they can incorporate them into subject matter and when they last 5 minutes or less (p. 6).

Cothranet and Gately et al., 2013 (as cited by Dinkel et al., 2017) found that in an environment of high-stakes testing and strict adherence to the prescribed scope and sequence of curriculum, classroom teachers may be reluctant to implement physical activity into their days or feel they do not have the instructional autonomy to do so (p. 2). If teachers can find ways to tie physical activity to their academic standards and other content areas, they will be more likely to incorporate physical activity into their school days. There are other barriers preventing teachers from implementing physical activity into their classrooms. Some of these barriers include: limited time, lack of infrastructure, not enough materials for activities or the physical space to do them, lack of experience using physical activity with students, concerns about classroom management when incorporating physical activity, personal negative attitudes towards physical activity, or a feeling that physical activity may impede their ability to teach the academic standards (Dinkel et al., 2017, p. 3).

A study was conducted by Dinkel et al. (2017) between May 2014 and February 2015, with 59 preschool through 8th grade teachers in five school districts in the Midwestern United States. Four of the school districts in this study were public and one of the school districts was private. The teachers in this study were asked about specific programs they used to implement classroom physical activity. Over half of the participants reported they used GoNoodle, a website with a variety of classroom physical activity videos. Over half of the teachers reported they used various forms of general movement to keep their students active (p. 4). The study by Dinkel et al. (2017) had two other teachers from the study describe what they did to increase physical activity in their classrooms. One 8th grade teacher described how she incorporated movement, "we call it four corners where I'll ask them a question and they have to decide what they think the answer is by going and standing in the corner that has it (the right answer)" (Dinkel et al., 2017, p. 6) Another 4th grade teacher explained, "When we do counting I'll have them do jumping jacks when we count it by tens, you know different movements like that (Dinkel et al., 2017, p. 6). Including movement for children in school can take place both indoors and outdoors. The use of nature and outdoors activities promotes positive risk-taking among children as well as the development of motor skills and physical fitness (Bjørgen, 2015).

### **Programs Created to Increase Physical Activity**

Numerous classroom physical activity programs have been developed for teachers. Several classroom physical activity programs have increased children's overall physical activity, their on-task behavior, and academic outcomes (Dinkel et al., 2017). Strauss (2015), a reporter from the Washington Post, wrote an article about the Liink Project, *Let's Inspire Innovation 'N Kids*. The Liink Project was created by Texas Christian University and has been implemented in schools around the United States. The Liink Project is based on improved brain development as a result of physical activity and outdoor exposure throughout the day as well as teaching character development lessons daily. When the Liink Project started, it showed that adding extra recess can improve student discipline, focus and academic success without increasing the length of the school day or taking time away from classroom activities (Strauss, 2015). Strauss' (2015) report said the following:

When any human sits for longer than about 20 minutes, the physiology of the brain and body changes, robbing the brain of needed oxygen and glucose, or brain fuel. The brain essentially just falls asleep when we sit for too long. Movement and activity stimulate the neurons that fire in the brain. When we sit, those neurons aren't firing. Study after study has affirmed the importance of play in children's physical and mental health. It helps boost language development, problem solving, risk management, and independent learning skills. Play is linked to improvements in academic skills, classroom behavior, healthy emotional attitudes and better adjustment to school life (para. 3).

Play and physical activity go hand in hand. When students can physically move their bodies during recess, gym, or movement opportunities in the classroom, they have fun.

## Conclusion

In this section, physical activity in the classroom was defined. Different ways that teachers can implement physical activity in their classrooms were highlighted, as well as teacher's feelings about implementing physical activity in the classroom. The last part of this section discussed the Liink Project, which is one of many projects that have been designed to increase classroom physical activity.

In the section above, physical activity was defined. Physical activity is the process of engaging in bodily movement that results in energy expenditure, and it is essential for good health (McKenzie & Kahan, 2008, p. 171). Physical activity in the schools can take place in many different forms. Classroom physical activity can be included in class content, for example having children jump every time they hear a verb in a story. Physical activity can be utilized during transition times between class subjects, by walking to a different area of the room, or strictly as a pause in the current instruction (Dinkel, et al., 2017). Numerous classroom physical activity programs have been developed for teachers. Several classroom physical activity programs have increased children's overall physical activity, their on-task behavior, and academic outcomes (Dinkel et al., 2017). All of these pieces of research helped to show what physical activity in the classroom can look like.

In the next section, I will discuss recommendations from professional and government organizations. The upcoming section will cover how much time is recommended for children ages 5-18 to engage in physical activity as well as some things children at this age can do to stay healthy.

#### **Recommendations from Professional and Government Organizations**

#### Introduction

In this last section, recommendations from professional and government organizations will be highlighted. The amount of time that should be spent engaging in physical activity as well as what types of activities are best for children ages 5-17 will be discussed. These recommendations will help to guide an understanding of my research question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?* Using these recommendations from professional and government organizations will help provide some understanding of what needs to be done in the classroom while children are at school.

#### **Recommendations for Children Ages 5-17**

Regular participation in physical activity is essential to the optimal health and development of any child. Physical activity has been associated with numerous health benefits including the development of healthy bones, muscles, and coordination, maintenance of a healthy body weight, reduced levels of anxiety and depression, and improvements in social development ("World Health Organization," 2019). Despite these benefits, less than half of children in the United States meet the recommendations of engaging in 60 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity every day ("World Health Organization," 2019). In addition to having a lack of physical activity, children of all ages are spending more time in sedentary behaviors. One of the main reasons for reduced levels of physical activity and increased levels of sedentary behaviors is because of the lack of opportunities for physical activity in places like school. According to the World Health Organization (2019), following the recommendations laid out for children during the first 5 years of life is associated with better motor and cognitive development, psychosocial, emotional regulation, cardiometabolic health, bone and skeletal health, and reduced risk of injuries (p. 7). Children should have a combination of more physical activity, less sedentary activities, like screen time, and plenty of sleep for overall health. The World Health Organization (2019) describes the importance of physical activity for children ages 5 to 17:

Physical activity is positively related to cardiorespiratory fitness in children and youth, and both preadolescents and adolescents can achieve improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness with exercise training. In addition, physical activity is positively related to muscular strength. In both children and youth, participation in muscle-strengthening activities 2 or 3 times per week significantly improves muscular strength. For this age group, muscle-strengthening activities can be unstructured and part of play, such as playing on playground equipment, climbing trees or pushing and pulling activities. In addition to physical activity, healthy eating is another important factor in overall well-being. (p. 19)

Healthy eating and physical activity have been associated with increased life expectancy, increased quality of life, and reduced risk for many chronic diseases. Healthy living through healthy eating and regular physical activity reduces the risk for the top three leading causes of death in the United States, heart disease, cancer, and stroke ("Division of Adolescent and School Health," 2011, p. 5).

## Conclusion

In this section, recommendations from professional and government organizations were discussed. These recommendations included how much physical activity is recommended for children ages 5-17 and some suggestions for activities. Research in the section above shows that less half of children in the United States meet the recommendations of engaging in 60 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity every day ("World Health Organization," 2019). In addition to having a lack of physical activity, children of all ages are spending more time in sedentary behaviors. The recommendations from professional and government agencies support the need for more physical activity in the classroom.

## **Chapter Two Summary**

In Chapter Two, four main topics were discussed to answer the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?* The first topic discussed changes that have been made to primary education that have created a need for physical activity in the classroom. This included topics such as how kindergarten has changed, health concerns for children, the brain body connection, No Child Left Behind, and discussion about children having more sedentary behavior.

The second topic discussed the benefits of incorporating movement in the classroom. The main points in this section were that physical activity in the classroom increases academic achievement, increases on-task behavior and helps with classroom management, and increases the overall health of children.

The third topic answered the question, "what does classroom physical activity look like?" In this section, physical activity was defined and suggestions for implementing classroom physical activity were shared. In addition to those topics, programs that have been created to increase physical activity during the school day were reviewed.

The last section of Chapter Two concluded with recommendations made by government and professional organizations about what elementary aged students need in regards to physical activity. This section information about what students at this age level need, why they need that amount of physical activity, and some suggestions for ways to stay physically active.

#### **Chapter Two Conclusion**

Through the collection and analysis of research conducted in Chapter Two, I was able to find answers to my research question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning*? Physical activity is important for children and also adults, and school is the best place to introduce students to physical activity and get them moving. Physical activity promotes on-task behavior in the classroom as well as academic achievement and overall well being for children. Children need to move because their bodies and brains were not built to sit for long periods of time. Implementation of physical activity does not need to be difficult, and teachers should use what they have to do whatever they can to get students moving. Allowing students to move, or at least engage in a change of activity, every 10 minutes will help them stay focused, engaged, and have fun! Elementary aged children should get about 60 minutes of moderate physical activity a day, and this doesn't have to take place all at one time. It can be spread across the day and includes things like recess, physical education, and in class physical activity. This is where teachers can get creative to incorporate physical activity throughout the day and find ways to connect physical activity with learning targets.

## **Chapter Three Preview**

In Chapter Three, I will discuss the capstone project created to help answer the question, how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase *learning*? My project is a Google Slides presentation with an assortment of videos and activity ideas that other educators can use in their own classrooms to implement more physical activity. In Chapter Three, I will also discuss the research method used for the project as well as the theories behind my research. The project setting and audience will be described and a detailed timeline of the project completion will be covered.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

#### Introduction

In Chapter Three I will be giving an overview of the capstone project that I have created to help answer the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?* As a kindergarten teacher, I have experienced the negative effects of students sitting more at school and having a more sedentary lifestyles outside of the classroom. Day in and day out I continue to look for activities and ways to keep students moving and engaged in the classroom.

#### Rationale

My students, both past and present, have enjoyed physically active activities and movement breaks, but I have always wondered if there was a better way to make physical activity more connected to the state standards, which is sometimes referred to in this paper as a learning target, to increase student learning. There have been so many times where I wished I had a resource with different ideas to choose from on a daily basis to keep my students moving *and* learning at the same time. Oftentimes these movement breaks are unplanned, created on the fly, due to the behaviors and wiggles I see from the students in my classroom. What if I had a list of planned and appropriate physical activity breaks that were also tied to state standards? I decided to create a capstone project that would include numerous activities and ideas that teachers could use to get their students up and moving, all while still teaching academic skills. I completed my capstone project using a combination of Adult Learning Theory along with qualitative research methods ("The Principles of Adult Learning," 2018; Creswell, 2014). These theories and methods helped me create an appropriate and useful tool for adult learners to use. I created this capstone project because it is something I have wanted to have and use in my own classroom. I have not been able to find a resource like this, so creating something like this as a part of my capstone project was the perfect opportunity. I think my students and I will be able to benefit from this resource, as well as other kindergarten teachers in my district and around the state.

## **Overview of the Project**

In the Fall of 2020, my school district moved to distance learning due to the COVID 19 pandemic. This brought upon many different challenges for a kindergarten classroom. It made the need for movement breaks and physical activity more important than ever as students were spending more time on a computer, watching a screen and completing distance learning activities. Even while teaching kindergarteners from a desk, hosting a Google Meet with 22 five and six year old students, I continued to ask myself the question, how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning? The kindergarten classroom in this case could be defined as the physical classroom space in a school or a virtual classroom through distance learning! I decided to create a Google Slides presentation for my capstone project that offers activities and video links for teachers to use during their school day that directly tie to some of the most comprehensive Minnesota state standards for English Language Arts and Math. Teachers will be able to use this resource to add more physical activity to their school day all while teaching the Minnesota state standards. Creating a project like this helps to answer my research question, how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?, because teachers will have readily accessible resources for physical activity that are directly tied to the Minnesota state standards to increase student learning.

#### **Research Theories**

The main theory I used to create my capstone project to answer the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?*, was Adult Learning Theory. Adult Learning Theory was created by Knowles in 1968 ("What is Adult Learning Theory?," 2020). Adult Learning Theory, also called andragogy, is the study of how adults learn and how it is different from how children learn. Andragogy is known as the "art and science of helping adults learn" and Knowles (2020) compared it to pedagogy, which is the art and science of helping children learn ("Adult Learning Theories and Principles"). According to "The Principles of Adult Learning," informed by the work of Knowles and other theorists, there are six principles of adult learners that can serve as guideposts while working with adults (2018). The six principles are: adults must feel safe to learn, adults come to learning experiences with histories, adults need to know why we have to learn something, adults want agency in our learning, and adults want to learn ("The Principles of Adult Learning," 2018, pp. 1-3). As a kindergarten teacher, I understand how elementary students learn and what they need to be successful. Teaching adults is something I do not have experience with. I leaned on many of the basic principles of Adult Learning Theory to meet the needs of adult learners. According to "Adult Learning Theories and Principles," (2020), Knowles and his andragogy theory say that adult learners are different from children in many ways, including:

Adults need to know why they should learn something, adults need internal motivation, adults want to know how learning will help them specifically, adults bring prior knowledge and experience that form a foundation for their learning, adults are self-directed and want to take charge of their learning journey, and adults find the most relevance from task-oriented learning that aligns with their own realities. (para. 6)

Adults have previous experiences and want to know how learning something new is going to help them specifically. Adults also want to be in charge of their learning and are looking for task-oriented learning. Creating a project that adult educators can use to increase their classroom management skills and implement in their own way and on their own time, will be a very meaningful tool. I have included the rationale for my project in the Google Slides presentation and will back up my rationale with sources that I cited throughout Chapter Two of my capstone paper.

#### **Research Methods**

In addition to using Adult Learning Theory while creating my project, I also used qualitative research methods. Qualitative research is conducted through observations and collecting information from other sources. Creswell (2014) states:

Qualitative research is an approach for exploring and understanding the meaning individuals or groups ascribe to a social or human problem. The process of research involves emerging questions and procedures, data typically collected in the participant's setting, data analysis inductively building from particulars to general themes, and the researcher making interpretations of the meaning of the data. The final written report has a flexible structure. Those who engage in this form of inquiry support a way of looking at research that honors an inductive style, a focus on individual meaning, and the importance of rendering the complexity of a situation. (p. 32)

I used qualitative research because I collected research done by others and used that research to come to my own understanding about the benefits of incorporating physical activity in the classroom. Through my own observations and experiences as a kindergarten teacher, the Minnesota State standards, and the information I collected through the literature review in Chapter Two, I synthesized that information to create a Google Slides presentation that other educators can use as a resource to add more physical activity in their classrooms.

### **Project Setting and Audience**

To answer the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning*?, I used the school I am currently teaching at as my

setting. I also used the other kindergarten teachers at my school as the audience. The setting for this project is the current elementary school where I teach. It is an elementary school in the suburbs of a large city, in the state of Minnesota. The elementary school is home to over 600 students, kindergarten through 5th grade. There are three sections of kindergarten classes at our school this year. Each kindergarten classroom has between 20 and 23 students. This year, just over 100 of the students at our school have opted to enroll in the school district's Online Learning Academy (OLA), which is offered virtually due to the COVID19 pandemic. I hope that my project will benefit the kindergarten teachers at my school, the kindergarten teachers that are teaching OLA this school year, and other kindergarten teachers in our district and around the state of Minnesota. All kindergarten teachers can benefit from my project as the research found in Chapter Two showed that students who are more physically active at school have higher academic achievement, more on-task behavior, and an increase in physical activity. I hope that more teachers will be willing and excited to implement physical activity opportunities in the classroom by using my capstone project as a resource and guide.

## **Project Description**

I chose to use Google Slides as the presentation tool for my capstone project. Choosing this presentation tool was for two main reasons: I am comfortable using Google Slides to present and I find it very easy to have the Google Slides open on a daily basis so that selecting which activity or movement break you want to do is just a click away. I chose to create an adult presentation because it was the best way to provide all of the ideas and information in one easy to read and access resource. I became very familiar with using Google Slides during distance learning and found that it is a tool many other educators use as well. My Google Slides presentation begins by introducing my research question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning*? The presentation then goes

through a brief overview of the rationale for my research question. I thought it would be helpful for other educators to read about some of the ways they could use this resource in their classroom. I decided to include sources that I found and cited throughout Chapter Two of my capstone paper on these slides. I included three slides explaining how to use my project in the classroom and when to use it. The main body of my presentation includes 11 different slides including one Minnesota state standard on each slide. The standards are grouped by English Language Arts and Math standards. For each state standard, there are one to four activities or video links posted.

To complete my capstone project, the first thing I had to do was gather a complete list of the Kindergarten Minnesota State standards for English Language Arts and Math. I decided to focus on English Language Arts and Math standards as these both have more concrete learning objectives, for example: in English Language Arts kindergarten students are learning the alphabet letter names and sounds. In Math, kindergarten students are working on being able to identify, count, and read all numbers 0-31. I then lumped similar standards together and narrowed them down to what I considered the 11 most crucial state standards. These 11 state standards are also standards that I decided are simple enough to tie in with physical activity. Using the research gathered from Chapter Two, I then found or listed activities for each standard that teachers can use in their classrooms. Each activity is either described in detail with suggestions for successful implementation or there is a hyperlink that will take students and teachers to a YouTube video that includes physical activity. I also included the amount of time each activity will take to implement so other people using this resource can choose an activity based on the allotted time that they have. All of the YouTube video links have been put through a video filter called View Pure. This ensures that when the video link is clicked, there will not be any ads at the beginning of or during the video. The activities for each state standard include accessing a video, playing a physical activity or dance along video, singing a song or chant, or a simple physical activity that

can be used to teach each standard and increase physical activity in the classroom at the same time. My capstone project helps to answer the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?*, because the activities are directly tied to the Minnesota state standards for English Language Arts and Math. Teachers can incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom and increase learning at the same time.

# Timeline

The first thing I had to do was gather all of the Minnesota State Kindergarten standards for English Language Arts and Math. I completed this task during the very first part of the 2021 Spring semester. After solidifying the list of Minnesota state standards, I began working through each standard and decided upon which activities would work best for each standard. I had the opportunity to try out some of the activities with my current class of kindergartners before adding them to my capstone project Google Slides presentation. I was also able to test out the user accessibility and format with the Google Slides presentation with my current class of students... My current class is very active and needs movement breaks frequently throughout the day. Since starting my research for my capstone project in the fall, I have continued to implement more physical activity during the school day for my class. I can tell when my students need a chance to move, and when we have rainy days with no outdoor recess or gym, I try to include even more. This school year, I have built physical activity breaks into our daily schedule. These breaks are most often in the form of a GoNoodle or a Kidz Bop dance along video from YouTube. I wanted to have physical activity that was centered more around academic skills, which is why I thought creating a Google Slides presentation with resources including physical activity tied to the Minnesota state standards for kindergarten would be helpful. I found the format of my capstone project to be very user friendly. I completed the capstone project at the end of the 2021 Spring

Semester. I have been able to share my capstone project with my current kindergarten teacher colleagues. My capstone project is now available for other educators in my district to access and use.

#### **Chapter Three Summary**

Throughout Chapter Three, I discussed the capstone project that I created to help answer the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?* In the first part of Chapter Three, I introduced the Google Slides presentation and the rationale for wanting to research how to incorporate more physical activity in my kindergarten classroom. I then went on to give an overview of what the capstone project is and how it can be accessed and used by other educators. To complete my capstone project, I used a combination of Adult Learning Theory and qualitative research methods to find ways to bring meaningful, synthesized information to adult learners. I discussed the setting and audience of my project and then gave additional details about the timeline of my project completion. In Chapter Four, I will highlight the key features of my capstone project and how it can be used in the classroom. I will highlight research that shows the importance of including physical activity in the school day. Due to the need to increase the amount of physical activity that takes place in kindergarten classrooms, my capstone project was designed as an adult presentation that other teachers can access so they are able to implement more physical activity in their classrooms while teaching the Minnesota state standards at the same time.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

# Reflection

## Introduction

Throughout my capstone project, I have been working to answer the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?* In Chapter One, I gave an overview of my experience in education and introduced the question I wanted to answer. In Chapter Two, I reviewed literature focusing on the topic of physical activity in the classroom. Chapter Three was an introduction of my capstone project, a Google Slides presentation with resources other educators can use to implement more physical activity in their classrooms. In this chapter, I will be giving a reflection of the capstone project process, including key learnings from my research, a description of my capstone project, the benefits my project will provide for other educators, limitations, and the next steps of my research.

## Key Learnings

Throughout researching my question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning*?, I found information that will help me in my career as an educator. In Chapter Two, four main topics were discussed to answer my research question. The first topic discussed changes that have been made to primary education that have created a need for physical activity in the classroom. This included topics such as how kindergarten has changed, health concerns for children, the brain body connection, No Child Left Behind, and discussion about children having more sedentary behavior. In 2009, a report titled, *Crisis in the Kindergarten*, warned that kindergarten in the United States had radically changed over the past two decades and that "developmentally appropriate learning practices" centered on play, exploration, and social interactions had been replaced with highly prescriptive curriculum, test preparation, and an explicit focus on academic skill building (Bassok et al., 2016). A study

done by Dotson-Renta (2016) through the University of Virginia found that, compared to 1998, children today are spending far less time on self-directed learning—moving freely and doing activities that they themselves chose—and measurably more time in a passive learning environment (para. 1). One concern with having too much focus on academic skills is that it might crowd out other important types of learning experiences that help develop social and regulation skills (Bassok et al., 2016). According to the World Health Organization, 38 million children under the age of 5 years old were overweight or obese in 2019. The proportion of children who are overweight has more than tripled since the 1970s (McKenzie & Kahan, 2008, p. 172). This shift in kindergarten plus an increase in child obesity has caused students to spend less time moving and more time sitting during their time at school.

I then went on to share examples of some of the benefits of incorporating physical activity in the classroom. I found that physical activity in the classroom increases academic achievement, increases on-task behavior and helps with classroom management, and increases the overall health of children. I have been using physical activity more than I would in a typical school year and it has helped my current group of students refocus and get ready for the next lesson. In my classroom, we have movement breaks built in to every transition, moving from morning meeting to language arts, clearing up from language arts and switching over to math. I think the routine of movement breaks are helpful so students anticipate they will have an opportunity to move. The resources I created for my capstone project can be used in this same way, but they can also be used for spur of the moment physical activity breaks when teachers can see their students need a chance to move. Studies show that children who are more active exhibit better focus, faster cognitive processing, and more successful memory retention than kids who spend the day sitting still (Abdelbary, 2017). Research has shown there are no negative consequences for making physical activity part of the school day, which should alleviate concerns

that taking time away from core subjects for *play* might decrease grades or test scores (Conyers & Wilson, 2015). Movement provides the brain with oxygen, which is needed to feed and create connections between neurons (Jensen, 2005). This connection is important because the part of the brain used during movement activities is the same part of the brain that is used during learning (Jensen, 2005). Research shows that children who participate in daily physical activity, which is defined as a behavior beyond rest, have increased physical fitness, increased bone density, a reduced risk of obesity, decreased risk in cardiovascular disease, and a lower risk of experiencing depression (Castelli et al., 2014). All of these pieces of research show the benefits of incorporating physical activity in the classroom.

The next section of Chapter Two helped to define physical activity. As an educator, I wanted to know what classroom physical activity can look like. I was able to find research that defined physical activity and offered suggestions for implementing physical activity in the classroom. Physical Activity is the process of engaging in bodily movement that results in energy expenditure, and it is essential for good health (McKenzie & Kahan, 2008, p. 171). Physical activity in the classroom is any type of movement that students participate in while at school. Physical activity in the classroom can be done for fun, just to get students up and moving, or physical activity in the classroom can be used to teach an academic skill. According to Catunda, et al., (2017) students that participated in school-based physical activity had better academic performance than those who did not participate in physical activity (p. 2). When research shows up how beneficial physical activity is for children, I believe we are doing them a disservice if we do not include it during their school day.

The last bit of research I found were recommendations that have been made by government and professional organizations about what elementary aged students need in regards to physical activity. Physical activity has been associated with numerous health benefits including the development of healthy bones, muscles, and coordination, maintenance of a healthy body weight, reduced levels of anxiety and depression, and improvements in social development ("World Health Organization," 2019). Children of all ages are spending more time in sedentary behaviors. According to the World Health Organization (2019), following the recommendations laid out for children during the first 5 years of life is associated with better motor and cognitive development, psychosocial, emotional regulation, cardiometabolic health, bone and skeletal health, and reduced risk of injuries (p. 7). Children should have a combination of more physical activity, less sedentary activities, like screen time, and plenty of sleep for overall health. All of the recommendations from government and professional organizations support the implementation of more physical activity in the classroom.

The research discussed throughout Chapter Two helped strengthen my belief that incorporating more physical activity in the classroom was beneficial for students and teachers. I learned about how kindergarten has changed and that students are living more sedentary lives, the importance of physical activity for students, ways to include physical activity, and recommendations for the amount of physical activity children need. Even though I was able to find an answer to my question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?*, I still had to figure out a way that I could use this information to create a user-friendly resource for myself and other educators to use. My capstone project provided a way for me to share my research, answer my research question, and provide more opportunities for educators and students to include more physical activity in their school day. I will discuss my capstone project in the next section, Project Description.

#### **Project Description**

In this section, I will give a description of my capstone project. I chose to use Google Slides as my presentation tool for my capstone project. Choosing this presentation tool was for two main reasons: I am comfortable using Google Slides to present and I find it very easy to have the Google Slides presentation open on a daily basis so that selecting which activity or movement break you want to do is just a click away. I chose an adult presentation as the project methodology because it was the best way to provide all of the ideas and information in one easy to read and access resource. I became very familiar with using Google Slides during distance learning and found that it is a tool many other educators use as well. My Google Slides presentation begins by introducing my research question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning*? I then go through a brief overview of the rationale for my research question. I decided to include sources that I found and cited throughout Chapter Two of my capstone paper. I included three slides explaining how to use my project in the classroom and when to use it. I thought this would make my project even more accessible and user friendly for other educators to use. The main body of my presentation includes 11 different slides with one Minnesota state standard listed on each slide. The standards are grouped into two different subject areas, English Language Arts and Math. For each state standard, there are one to four activities or video links posted.

To complete my capstone project, the first thing I had to do was gather a complete list of the Kindergarten Minnesota State standards for English Language Arts and Math. I decided to focus on English Language Arts and Math standards as these both have more concrete learning objectives, for example: in English Language Arts kindergarten students are learning the alphabet letter names and sounds. In Math, kindergarten students are working on being able to identify, count, and read all numbers 0-31. I then lumped similar standards together and narrowed them down to what I considered the 11 most crucial state standards. These 11 state standards are also standards that I decided are simple enough to tie in with physical activity. Using the research gathered from Chapter Two, I then found or listed activities for each standard that teachers can use in their classrooms. Each activity is either described in detail with suggestions for successful implementation or there is a hyperlink that will take students and teachers to a YouTube video that includes physical activity. I also included the amount of time each activity will take to implement so other people using this resource can choose an activity based on the allotted time that they have. All of the YouTube video links have been put through a video filter called View Pure. This ensures that when the video link is clicked on, there will not be any ads at the beginning or during the video. The activities include accessing a video, playing a movement or dance along video, singing a song or chant, or a simple physical activity that can be used to teach each standard and increase physical activity in the classroom at the same time. I chose to use a Google Slides presentation for my project because this resource will be very easy for other educators to access and use.

In this section I gave a description of my capstone project. I explained the rationale behind my choice of creating a Google Slides presentation as well as described the steps I took to complete the project. In the next section I will talk about the benefits of using my capstone project in the classroom.

## **Benefits to the Profession**

One of the main reasons I wanted to create a capstone project like I did was for myself and other educators to use in the classroom. I know and understand the importance of letting children move and be physically active, but I know it can be hard to feel like you have time to fit it in during the busy school day! I think that having a resource like the one I created for my capstone project will help other educators take a chance on incorporating more physical activity in their classrooms. For some educators, I feel they may not be including physical activity in their classrooms because they never have and they do not know how to do it. It can be hard to do something new after you've been teaching the same way for such a long time, but children need to move and using my capstone project will be beneficial for students and teachers. I also wanted to create something that would encourage me to incorporate physical activity that is directly tied to the Minnesota state standards.

In this section I gave examples of how my capstone project will benefit the teaching profession. I believe having an easily accessible resource like the one I created will inspire even the most veteran teachers to implement more physical activity in their classrooms! In the next section, I will discuss some of the limitations of my capstone project.

## Limitations

As I have reflected on the final product of my capstone project, I have discovered some of the limitations. The first limitation of my project is that I am not sure how to make it accessible to more educators. I know how I can share it with my team of kindergarten teachers at my school, I even know how to share it with the other kindergarten teachers in my district. I do not know the best way to share it with other teachers throughout the state and even the country. I originally wanted to make a website containing links to all of the resources that I included in my Google Slides presentation, but I wanted my project to serve as adult professional development for other educators. A website would have been easier for other educators to access, but the Google Slides presentation is much more user-friendly.

Another limitation that I found is that these are the Minnesota state standards, so my capstone project works best for kindergarten teachers in Minnesota. If I wanted to make my capstone project more accessible for the whole country, I could include standards from the Common Core.

In this section I reflected on some of the limitations of my capstone project. The main limitations are distributing my capstone project as well as including standards that apply to a wider majority of the country. In the next section, I will be discussing the next steps in my research.

### Next Steps in Research

Creating a capstone project like this has been really helpful for me in my current classroom. I have a very active group of 22 students, and when I see they need some physical activity, it has been easy for me to select an appropriate activity that ties it to one of the kindergarten Minnesota state standards. In the future, I would like to broaden my resources and perhaps even find some activities for other subjects, like Social Studies and Science. After viewing so many different physical activity videos on YouTube, I have also wondered if I could create some videos of my own in areas that I wasn't able to find something. This school year, I know many teachers have learned how to implement a lot more technology in their classrooms than ever before. I also wonder if I would be able to create some sort of a choice board of physical activity breaks that students could select on their own devices, either depending on their interests or what subject area they need to work on.

In this section, I discussed the next steps in my research. I discussed how I would like to broaden the subjects I include in my capstone project, possibly create my own physical activity videos, and create a virtual choice board for students to use so they are able to self select their physical activity. In the next section, I will be summarizing Chapter Four and my learnings throughout the capstone project.

### Summary

Throughout the whole process of researching the question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?*, I found information that will help me in my career as an educator. In Chapter Four, I reflected on my capstone project process. At the beginning of this chapter, I included key learnings from the research presented in the literature review from Chapter Two. Some of the key learnings included how kindergarten has changed, health concerns for children, the benefits of incorporating movement in the classroom, defining physical activity, and it concluded with recommendations made by government and professional organizations about what elementary aged students need in regards to physical activity. The next section of Chapter Four gave a detailed description of my capstone project. In this section I discussed the type of project I created and the rationale behind why I chose it. The last section of Chapter Four explained some of the benefits my capstone project will provide for other educators, limitations of my project, and the next steps of my research.

At the end of the school day, I am still going to have a classroom full of active and excited five and six year old students. Through answering my research question, *how can teachers incorporate more physical activity in the kindergarten classroom to increase learning?*, I hope that I can increase the amount of physical activity my students get all while increasing their learning of the Minnesota state standards. If I can make this change in my own classroom and other classrooms around the state, then I feel my research has been successful!

#### REFERENCES

- A\*List! English Learning Videos for Kids. (2019, June 28). Alphabet dance [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VloEiK4Ihj8
- Antonio Molino. (2018, April 11). Count down from 20 to 1 [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=EW2XoVi-DBQ
- Abdelbary, M. (2017). *Learning in motion: Bring movement back to the classroom*. https://www.edweek.org/tm/articles/2017/08/08/learning-in-motion-bring-movement-back-to.html
- Balcom, E. (2017). *Get them moving: Increasing physical activity in the classroom*.
  Capstone Projects and Master Theses, California State University, Monterey Bay.
  https://digitalcommons.csumb.edu/caps thes all/195
- Barbosa, A., Whiting, S., Simmonds, P., Scotini Moreno, R., Mendes, R., & Breda, J.
  (2020). *Physical activity and academic achievement: An umbrella review*. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(16), 5972.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17165972
- Bassok, D., Latham, S., & Rorem, A. (2016). *Is kindergarten the new first grade?* AERA Open, 4(2), 1-31. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858415616358

Bark, K. (2018). Movement for learners: Physical activity impacting the academic performance of elementary students. School of Education Student Capstone Theses and Dissertations, Hamline University, 253. https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse cp/253

- Benjamin Neelon, S. E., Hesketh, K. R., & van Sluijs, E. M. (2016). Will physically active lessons improve academic achievement for all or widen the achievement gap?
  Pediatrics (Evanston), 137(3), e20154137. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2015-4137
- Bjørgen, K. (2015). Children's well-being and involvement in physically active outdoors play in a norwegian kindergarten: Playful sharing of physical experiences. Child Care in Practice, 21(4), 305-323. https://doi.org/10.1080/13575279.2015.1051512
- BrightMorning. (2018, August) *The principles of adult learning*. https://brightmorningteam.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Principles-of-Adult-Learning.
- Castelli, D. M., Centeio, E. E., Hwang, J., Barcelona, J. M., Glowacki, E. M., Calvert, H. G., & Nicksic, H. M. (2014). *The history of physical activity and academic performance research: Informing the future*. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 79(4), 119-148. https://doi.org/10.1111/mono.12133
- Catunda, R., Marques, A., Gómez Corrales, F. R., Sarmento, H., & Martins, J. (2017).
  Association between physical education, school-based physical activity, and academic performance: A systematic review. Retos: Nuevas Tendencias En Educación Física, Deporte Y Recreación, (31), 316-320.
  https://dialnet.unirioja.es/servlet/oaiart?codigo=5841391
- Conyers, M. & Wilson, D. (2015). Smart moves: Powering up the brain with physical
  - activity. Phi Delta Kappan, 96(8), 38-42. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721715583961
- Creswell, J.W. (2014) *Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* SAGE Publications, Inc.

- Dotson-Renta, L. N. (2016). *Why young kids learn through movement*. https://www.theatlantic/com/education/archive/2016/05/why-young-kids-learn-throughmovement/483408
- Dinkel, D., Schaffer, C., Snyder, K., & Lee, J. M. (2017). *They just need to move: Teachers' perception of classroom physical activity breaks*. Teaching and Teacher Education, 63, 186-195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.12.020
- Division of Adolescent and School Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. (2011). *School health guidelines to promote healthy eating and physical activity*. MMWR. Recommendations and Reports, 60(5), 1-76. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2484238
- Estrada-Tenorio, S., Julián, J. A., Aibar, A., Martín-Albo, J., & Zaragoza, J. (2020). Academic achievement and physical activity: The ideal relationship to promote a healthier lifestyle in adolescents. Journal of Physical Activity & Health, 17(5), 525-532. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2019-0320
- GoNoodle. (2016, December 1). Banana, banana, meatball [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=BQ9q4U2P3ig
- Harry Kindergarten Music. (2014, December 10). I can write my numbers! [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2X-HAFPHBzg
- Harry Kindergarten Music. (2017, October 31). One more! [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Du6JHupzwVo
- Harry Kindergarten Music. (2018, January 11). One less! [Video]. Youtube.

- Helgelson, J. (2011). *4 simple ways to add movement in daily lessons*. Kappa Delta Pi Record, 47(2), 80-84. https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2011.10516567
- Hoffman, J. A., Schmidt, E. M., Arguello, D. J., Eyllon, M. N., Castaneda-Sceppa, C.,
  Cloutier, G., & Hillman, C. H. (2020). *Online preschool teacher training to promote physical activity in young children: a pilot cluster randomized controlled trial*. School Psychology, 35(2), 118-127. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq000034
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2016, April 28). Clapping machine [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9sS0OeABaFs
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2016, February 18). One less number game [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5Dd4tt-ICxI
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2016, January 29). The one more number game [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ap3XeB6Bhls
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2016, July 29). Alligator Chomp [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nvLNhTnDO4I
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2017, December 15). Exercise, rhyme and freeze [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cSPmGPIyykU
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2017, November 1). Pump up the pattern [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hoFhVdYsmPg
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2018, December 10). Act out the alphabet [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dLReNTmMkKA

- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2018, January 13). Learning letter sounds [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vwxNBQnhRrM
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2018, May 16). Fun phonics fitness song [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ezdSqXROWOA
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2020, May 1). Let's learn about syllables [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HKxAjCqc3wU
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2020, May 20). 1 to 30 and 30 to 1 [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WHuuuh9GgP8
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2020, March 23). Fry sight word review 1-25 [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qb9WbH1-WXI
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2020, March 23). Fry sight word review 26-50 [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Kk2G1TTyPIY
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel. (2016, October 26.). Cvc words [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oDVAhDyHZaA
- Jack Hartmann Kids Music Channel (2019, October 22). Let's learn our numbers 0-10 [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pzmB0GoEKkA
- Jensen, E. 2005. *Teaching with the brain in mind*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Kids Learning Videos. (2020, July 17). Does it rhyme? [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=B5-y\_faQrY

- Kohl III, H., Cook, H. (2013). Educating the Student Body: Taking Physical Activity and Physical Education to School. Institute of Medicine. The National Academic Press.
  Retrieved from https://www.nap.edu/read/18314/chapter/1
- Lay, C. B. (2016). The connection between movement and student engagement in a kindergarten classroom. School of Education Student Capstone Theses and Dissertations, Hamline University, 4253. <u>https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse\_all/4253</u>
- LearnUpon. (2020, March 3). *What is adult learning theory?* https://www.learnupon.com/blog/adult-learning-theory/
- McGregor, E. (2014). *How often do you move? Improving student learning in the primary classroom through purposeful movement.* http://eprints.utas.edu.au/22480
- McKenzie, T. L. & Kahan, D. (2008). Physical activity, public health, and elementary schools. The Elementary School Journal, 108(3), 171-180. https://doi.org/10.1086/529100
- McLaren, C., Ruddick, S., Edwards, G., Zabjek, K., & McKeever, P. (2012). Children's movement in an integrated kindergarten classroom: Design, methods and preliminary findings. Children, Youth and Environments, 22(1), 145-177. https://doi.org/10.7721/chilyoutenvi.22.1.0145
- Morris, H., Skouteris, H., Edwards, S., Rutherford, L. M., Cutter-Mackenzie, A., O'Connor,
  A., Mantilla, A., Huang, T. T., Lording, K. M., & Williams-Smith, J. (2016). *Feasibility* of conducting a randomized trial to promote healthy eating, active play and

*sustainability awareness in early childhood curricula*. Early Child Development and Care, 186(11), 1752-1764. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2015.1131158

- Mr. Gaston Woodland. (2017, October 19). Rhyming words for kindergarteners [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=EuAjgo6NSVM
- Mr. R's Songs for Teaching. (2018, July 26). Count back from 20 with the count back cat [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=F6a2W8UQP5w&t=1s
- Ostroff, W. L. (2005). Don't just sit there... Pay attention! Educational Leadership, 70-74.
- Panksepp, J. (2007). Can PLAY diminish ADHD and facilitate the construction of the social brain? Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 16(2), 57-66. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18392153
- Pellegrini, A. D., & Bohn, C. M. (2016). The role of recess in children's cognitive performance and school adjustment. Educational Researcher, 34(1), 13-19. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x034001013
- Podnar, H., Novak, D., & Radman, I. (2018). Effects of a 5-minute classroom-based physical activity on on-task behaviour and physical activity levels. Kinesiology, 50(2), 251-259. https://doi.org/10.26582/k.50.2.17
- Shoval, E., Sharir, T., Arnon, M., & Tenenbaum, G. (2018). The effect of integrating movement into the learning environment of kindergarten children on their academic achievements. Early Childhood Education Journal, 46(3), 355-364. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-017-0870-x

- Shoval, E., Sharir, T., & Shulruf, B. (2014). The challenge kindergarten model: Integrating body-movement and scaffolding to keep the child in the center and make systematic progress in learning. Early Childhood Education Journal, 42(4), 279-286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-013-0609-2
- Stork, S., & Sanders, S. W. (2008). *Physical education in early childhood*. The Elementary School Journal, 108(3), 197-206. https://doi.org/10.1086/529102
- Strauss, V. (2015). Why kids need less class time and more play time at school. https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/answer-sheet/wp/2015/08/21/why-young-kids-n eed-less-class-time-and-more-play-time-at-school/
- Super Simple Songs. (2014, December 24). Count down from 20 to 1 [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ShqXL-zfLxY
- Vanderloo, L. M., & Tucker, P. (2016). *Physical activity and sedentary time among young children in full-day kindergarten: comparing traditional and balanced day schedules*. Health Education Journal, 76(1), 29-37. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896916643354
- Walker, T. D. (2015). The joyful, illiterate kindergarteners of Finland. https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2015/10/the-joyful-illiterate-kindergartn ers-of-finland/408325/
- Western Governors University. (2020, April 7). Adult learning theories and principles. https://www.wgu.edu/blog/adult-learning-theories-principles2004.html
- Wilson, D., & Conyers, M. (2015). Move your body, Grow your brain. https://www.edutopia.org/blog/move-body-grow-brain-donna-wilson.

World Health Organization. (2010). *Global recommendations on physical activity for health*. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44399

World Health Organization. (2019). *Guidelines on physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep for children under 5 years of age*. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311664